# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 81,346

LEO ALEXANDER JONES,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, '

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Florida Bar No. 0754773 Chief Assistant CCR

GAIL E. ANDERSON Florida Bar No. 0841544 Assistant CCR 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-4376 Attorneys for Appellant

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Jones' motion for post-conviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 8, 1991, Mr. Jones sought Rule 3.850 relief based on newly discovered evidence. The circuit court denied relief on November 10, 1991. This Court reversed and remanded for an evidentiary hearing. <u>Jones v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1991).

The evidentiary hearing was held in the circuit court in September, 1992. On December 11, 1992, the circuit court ruled against Mr. Jones and filed an Order Denying Motion for Post-conviction Relief. Mr. Jones filed a motion for rehearing. The circuit court denied rehearing. This appeal followed.

Leo Jones is innocent of the offense for which he awaits execution. The murder was committed by another man, Glenn Schofield who, in the years since Mr. Jones' conviction and death sentence, has confessed to numerous people that he shot and killed Officer Szafranski and that Leo Jones is on death row for something he did not do. Mr. Schofield's confessions are consistent with evidence uncovered at the time of trial and with evidence which has only since been uncovered. This evidence when viewed cumulatively presents a compelling case of innocence. By the State's own admission, the evidence if presented to a jury would "create a debatable question" (H. 59).

#### A. BACKGROUND

Mr. Jones was convicted and sentenced to death for the May 23, 1981, murder of Jacksonville police officer Thomas Szafranski. The murder occurred in Jacksonville at the

intersection of Sixth and Davis Streets at about 1:00 a.m.

Officer Szafranski was driving the third car of a trio of police cars and was shot as he was about to turn from Sixth Street onto Davis Street going north, following the other two police cars which had already turned north onto Davis. After he was shot, Officer Szafranski's car came to a stop partially in the Sixth and Davis intersection. (See Def. Ex. 1).

Immediately after the shooting, numerous police cars converged on the scene. No one had witnessed the actual shooting. Some witnesses indicated the shots had come from the area of a vacant lot which was on the east side of Davis, directly in front of Sixth Street (App. 19); others said the shots had come from a downstairs apartment of an apartment building on the east side of Davis, south of the vacant lot (App. 19).

Attention focused on the apartment building, which police began searching. In an upstairs apartment, police found Mr. Jones and Mr. Bobby Hammonds, who were taken into custody and transported to the police department. After hours of interrogation, beatings, and coercion, Mr. Hammonds told police that he had seen Mr. Jones leave the apartment with a gun, heard a shot, and then seen Mr. Jones return to the apartment with a gun. Mr. Hammonds also told police that a man named Glenn Schofield had been in the apartment that night (Def. Ex. L. at 18). Mr. Hammonds was released immediately after giving these statements.

Also after hours of interrogation, beatings, and coercion, Mr. Jones signed a statement written by Detective Eason, admitting involvement in the shooting. The statement was two sentences long, contained no details, and provided only the barest inculpatory information (R. 1097-1101). Although Mr. Jones signed the confession, he refused to sign a waiver of rights (R. 1106).

Bobby Hammonds testified in a pretrial deposition and at the motion to suppress hearing that he and Mr. Jones had been severely beaten after their arrest and that he had made statements implicating Mr. Jones only to get the police to stop beating him. (See R. 354-72). Mr. Hammonds' brother confirms that when he saw Mr. Hammonds the day of the arrest, Mr. Hammonds had been badly beaten (App. 11). Mr. Jones' mother and an assistant public defender who saw Mr. Jones the day after his arrest confirm that Mr. Jones also had been badly beaten (Apps. 9, 10).

In a deposition, Bobby Hammonds described the treatment he and Mr. Jones received from the police:

- Q When you got to the police station, where was it that you saw Leo get hit?
  - A In the parking lot.
- Q Was that underneath the building, or on the street?
  - A Underneath the building.
  - Q And who was hitting him?
- A The same two officers that was hitting me.

- Q The black officer and the other officer?
- A Right. They was saying that I think he did it.
  - Q Talking about who?
  - A Leo.
  - Q All right.
- A I think he did it, so they went over and started hitting on him. You know, I was looking and I seen them hit him in the stomach and in the arm, and I don't know what else they did in the room, because when I seen him he got two bruises up here.
- Q He didn't have those bruises before that night, did he?
- A No. When I seen him, he didn't have them. When I seen him in that little room over here, and I look at him, you know.
- Q Did you get hit anymore at the police station?
  - A Yes.
  - Q Who hit you down there?
- A It was the same two and another one.
  - Q Were they uniformed officers?
  - A Uniformed.
  - Q Did the detectives ever hit you?
  - A No.
  - Q It was the uniformed guys?
- A The detective was the one who told them to stop. Detective Eason.
  - Q And where were they hitting you?

- A They were hitting me everywhere. On the arm, face, back. You know, they put a chair and told me to sit down, I was handcuffed, and every time I'd go to sit down, they'd pull the chair back.
  - Q Is that the uniformed officers?
  - A Yes.
  - Q Why were they doing that?
  - A I don't know.
- Q Were they asking you questions that you weren't answering?
- A No, they weren't asking me questions. They were telling me to sit down so they could ask me some questions, and I would go to sit down, and I seen them kept, you know. So I kept turning around, and they said for me to sit down, we ain't going to hit you. At times they would swing, and one of them kicked me, you know. I think it was a sergeant or something. All I remember was that it was three officers, you know, that I seen doing all the hitting.
- Q All right. Did they take you anyplace between Davis Street and the police station? Did you stop anywhere on the way, or did you go straight?
  - A Yeah. We went to Springfield Bank.
  - Q All right.
- A The Springfield Bank over here on Main Street for the black officer to pick up his car.
  - Q All right.
- A And the other officer, he brought me in. I was telling him that the black officer put the handcuffs on hard, and that they were going to stop my circulation right here. I was telling him that they were tight, would he loosen these up. And he told me to shut up. We were riding along and an officer came up and I was telling him that

them things are on too tight, and he just turned my arm and pushed me against that little iron thing on the steps.

- Q Did you get hit over at Springfield when you were stopped over there? Did anything happen to you over there?
- A No. The only thing he did was hit me with the flashlight, that was it, that's when they left me alone and go over to Leo and said that I think he did it. They got Leo out of the car and hit on him.
- Q Did you hear Leo make any statements to them? Did you hear him say anything while you were close enough to hear him?
  - A I didn't hear nothing.
- Q All right. They got you down here, and how long did they keep you over at the police station, talking to you?
- A About two or three hours. I know it was a long time. I couldn't tell the time. I don't know.
- Q All right. You gave them a statement over there at 2:30 Saturday afternoon, and this thing happened like Friday night, early Saturday morning?
  - A Yes.
- Q And this was like 2:30 the next afternoon?
  - A Yes.
- Q Were you at the police station all the time, from the time you were arrested until you gave them the statement?
- A No. I went to the hospital. They carried me to the hospital and then come back.
- Q Did they take y'all together to the hospital?

- A No, in separate cars.
- Q But you were over there at the same time?
  - A Yeah, we go there at the same time.
  - Q Did they treat you at the hospital?
- A They give me a shot because of my eye.
  - Q What was wrong with your eye?
  - A It was swollen, bruised.
  - Q What was that from?
- A Beating. They got pictures of them. Not at this hospital, but the other one where I went and got an operation.
- Q When was it that you first told them that Leo -- what you told them about Leo going out with the gun and coming back in, and that kind of thing?
  - A When I told them?
  - Q Yes.
- A I told them -- like I said, I didn't want to get involved, so I told them that I didn't see nothing. And they, you know, that you seen something. He said that you ain't going to lay down there and heard a shot and not hear.
- Q Did you originally tell them that you didn't hear a shot and you didn't know anything?
- A Yeah, at first. And then he said I told him, you know.
- Q Why did you change your mind and tell them?
- A I was tired of them beating on me. Man, they scared me and they was beating on me.

Q Did they promise to do anything else to you, like charge you with first degree murder or anything like that?

A Yeah, that too. They said, you know, that you don't know what you got yourself into. One officer told them, you know, the same two that were beating me, he said that he was going to kill me if his partner died, or something. You know, he was going to kill me. He called me and told me that I wasn't no nigger, you know, something like that. I kept on trying to talk to him, you know, and he told me to shut up. So I shut up.

# (R. 361-66).

- Q Did they tell you that Leo had made a statement, or said anything to them?
- A The only thing is that they come in there and said that Leo said that you did it. You know, and I shook my head and said, no, man, I don't believe that there, just like that there.

Then they go and asked me if I wanted some water, and I said, "Yeah, I'll go ahead and get some." They turned it on and I get down there and they'd let it go. So I just turned around, you know. They asked Leo if he wanted some water and they did him the same way.

- Q How did you know he did that same thing to Leo?
- A Because I was right there in the hallway when they were bringing Leo out of the room.

#### (R. 368).

Q Did you get injured in any other way during the time you were being questioned over there? You told me about getting hit and kicked, but did you get hurt in any other way?

- A No. They was just putting these up there and I was feeling pain and all that there.
- Q Let me ask you this, Bobby, if the police had not been hitting on you, would you have given them that statement that you did?
  - A What's that?
- Q That statement that you gave them on the Twenty-third, the sworn statement?
  - A If they hadn't hit me?
  - Q Yes.
- A Like I said, I didn't want to be involved. I wouldn't have gave it to them, I didn't want to be involved. With them hitting on me and the man putting the gun -- they had me handcuffed, and they came in there and sat down with the gun.
  - O Who did that?
  - A An officer.
- Q Which one was he, the white one or the black one?
  - A The white one.
  - O The same one that was at the house?
  - A Yes.
- Q He sat down at the police station over here?
- A Put me in the chair and had me handcuffed. I was telling the other police officer that -- would he loosen them up, right here. I got a dead nerve there.
  - Q What, from the handcuffs?
  - A Yeah. They was on so tight.
  - Q All right.

- A And he tried to make me talk. Then he sat down with the gun, you know, pointing it at me, man.
  - Q Was that a pistol?
  - A A pistol. A .357 Magnum.
  - Q Pointed it at your face?
- A Yeah. I turned around and said, "Man, don't do me like that there."
- Q What did he say to you when he pointed the gun at you?
- A He didn't say nothing. But the other officer said -- had me handcuffed, and he said, "Let me take the handcuffs off before you shoot him." But he never did take them off.
- Q How many times did they do that with the gun routine?
- A They did that twice. They sat down and did it one time, and I was on the other side of the wall and they put it at my head.
- Q Did you think they were going to shoot you?
  - A I don't know.
- Q Were you afraid that they were going to shoot you?
  - A Yes. Afraid to death.
- (R. 369-71). Mr. Hammonds provided similar testimony at the hearing on the Motion to Suppress (Transcript of Hearing on Motion to Suppress, pp. 58-82). Mr. Hammonds also confirmed this account in a video-taped statement proffered to the lower court (Supp. PC-R2., video-taped deposition of Bobby Hammonds). The lower court refused to consider this statement (PC-R2. 278), and

also refused to issue a subpoena for Mr. Hammonds to testify at the evidentiary hearing (T. 361).

Bobby Hammonds' brother, Arty Hammonds, observed the injuries Bobby suffered following the beating Bobby endured at the hands of the police:

- 1. I am Arty Hammonds, Jr. My younger brother, is Bobby Hammonds.
- 2. I was called by one of my relatives early Sunday morning, May 23rd, and told that Bobby was in jail.
- 3. I went to the Duval County Jail where I found Bobby. I was told by Detective Eason that everybody rushed in and went crazy. I thought Eason meant that the police officers shot Bobby. When I saw Bobby, I understood what Eason was saying.
- 4. I could hardly recognize Bobby when I saw him. His head was a mass of blood knots. His face was swollen and he had a lot of cuts on his face. Bobby was also in shock. He could hardly talk and sounded confused. Bobby was obviously very frightened. Bobby tried to tell me what happened, but Eason and another officer cut Bobby off and would not let him talk to me.
- 5. Later, when Bobby came home, I asked him how he got hurt. He told me that a black officer along with several officers beat him with their fists and their rifle butts in Leo's apartment. First, Bobby said they beat him when he was on the couch, and then they took him to another room in the apartment and beat him some more. The black officer began to kick Bobby and told him to "cry, nigger, cry."
- 6. At some point, Bobby said the police officers, "I'm having chest pains." Bobby said they stopped beating him and took him to the hospital.
- 7. I was never contacted by anyone or asked what I knew about the injuries

inflicted on my brother, Bobby. If I had been asked, I would have been willing to tell what is contained in this affidavit.

(App. 11).

Other people who saw Mr. Jones the day after his arrest can also attest to the injuries he received from the police. Mr. Jones' mother describes:

When Leo got arrested I went to see him at the jail the next day. I didn't even recognize him because his mouth was so swollen and his face was bashed up. He told me that the police had beat him up while he was handcuffed. He said they pulled a chair out from under him when he tried to sit down and stomped his back, and threw water in his face. He told me that he was not involved in the shooting, but that he had told the police he was involved to get the police to stop beating him. You can still see an injury on his ear from that beating.

(App. 9).

A public defender who saw Mr. Jones the day after his arrest described similar injuries:

Comes now the Affiant, William P. White, III, after having been duly sworn and states as follows:

On May 23, 1981, serving in my capacity as Chief Assistant Public Defender, I was attending weekend bond hearings in courtroom 9 of the Duval County Courthouse in Jacksonville, Florida. On the calendar that Saturday morning was an individual named, Leo Alexander Jones, charged with Attempted murder in the first degree, Grand Theft, Possession of a Controlled Substance and Battery on a Law Enforcement Officer. This was the same individual represented by me in clemency proceedings before the Governor of the State of Florida at this time.

On May 23, 1981, I had the opportunity to observe Mr. Jones prior to the arrival of

his privately retained attorney. Mr. Jones had abrasions on his face and neck and appeared to be in a daze. He represented to me that he had been beaten on two separate occasions by law enforcement officers of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office following his arrest earlier that same morning. Prior to learning that Mr. Jones' family had retained private counsel, I made arrangements to have an investigator from the Office of the Public Defender photograph Mr. Jones in order to preserve any evidence of physical injury. When Mr. Jones' attorney arrived in the courtroom I had no further direct contact with Mr. Jones or his case until I was appointed by Judge Soud [sic] in this clemency proceeding.

(App. 10).

Mr. Jones' "confession" is a two-sentence statement written by Detective Eason, not Mr. Jones. The statement is extremely brief, providing only the barest information. It contains no details such as which gun was used or why the officer was shot. After the statement was taken, the detectives continued investigating, including reenacting the way the shooting was supposed to have occurred (Def. Ex. L. at 19).

The only evidence against Mr. Jones at trial was his presence in the Davis Street apartment, the presence of guns in his apartment, Bobby Hammonds' coerced statement, which Mr. Hammonds has recanted several times, 2 and Mr. Jones' supposed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In testimony at the pretrial hearing on a motion to suppress, Hammonds testified that he did not see Mr. Jones carrying a rifle the night of the murder, either before or after the gunshot (Transcript of Motion to Suppress, 09/11/81, pp. 54-56). Hammonds also testified that his statement to Detective Eason was not the truth, but that "I was scared because they were threatening me, man, beating me" (<u>Id</u>. at 57). Upon questioning by the prosecutor, Hammonds testified:

statement, which he also retracted. The State's theory at trial

# <sup>2</sup>(...continued)

- Q. Mr. Hammond, did you tell Detective Eason in the afternoon, after -- that is after the arrest occurred and after you went down to the police station, did you tell Detective Eason that you saw Leo Jones with a rifle before you heard the gunshot?
- A. Did I tell Detective Eason that I seen Leo Jones with a rifle after the gunshot?
  - Q. Before you heard the gunshot.
- A. No. <u>I ain't seen him before. I</u> tried to tell you that. You told me that. You came at me like that before and said --
  - Q. I just --
- A. You put that in my mouth and I told you that before I came here.

# (Id. at 66) (emphasis added).

- Q. Did you see Leo Jones with a rifle immediately after the gunshot that you heard outside?
  - A. Did I see him with a gun?
  - Q. Yes.
  - A. After the gunshot?
  - Q. Yes, sir.
  - A. No, I ain't seen him.
  - Q. Not at all?
  - A. (No response)
  - Q. Not at all?
  - A. No, I ain't seen him with a gun.
  - Q. You did not see him with a rifle?
  - A. I didn't see him with one.
  - Q. sir?
  - A. No, sir.

( $\underline{\text{Id}}$ . at 67). Hammonds reiterated that his statement to Detective Eason was not true but he made it because "[t]hey had threatened me, man. I was scared. They threatened my life, man" ( $\underline{\text{Id}}$ . at 73).

At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Jones proffered an affidavit from Hammonds in which Hammonds stated that his trial testimony was not true (T. 359; Def. Ex. H). The court refused to allow Hammonds to testify (T. 361). Mr. Jones also proffered a videotaped statement from Hammonds which the court refused to consider (Supp. Pc-R2., Videotaped deposition of Bobby Hammonds).

was that Mr. Jones had come down from his apartment to a vacant apartment on the ground floor, fired the shots from a window of the vacant apartment, and then immediately run back upstairs to his apartment. Tests on the bullet recovered from the scene proved inconclusive in terms of linking the bullet to any of the rifles seized from Mr. Jones' apartment (R. 1048). Mr. Jones testified that the guns in the apartment belonged to Glenn Schofield (R. 1214). Bobby Hammonds testified at trial that Glenn Schofield was in Mr. Jones' apartment that night and that Schofield left the apartment about 12:15 a.m. (R. 914-15).

Other evidence indicated that Mr. Jones had not committed the offense. For example, police performed a neutron activation test on Mr. Jones' hands, checking for the presence of gunpowder residue which would indicate he had recently fired a gun. The test was negative (R. 1074-75). A witness, Early Gaines, who lived in a nearby apartment told police:

Sometime after midnight tonight I was laying in my bed when I heard two gunshots just outside my window. Right after that I heard someone shuffling around in that same area like someone was running or moving fast. The next thing I knew a lot of police cars were outside.

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