FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUL 13 1995:

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clark

LEO ALEXANDER JONES,)		
Appellant,)		
vs.)	CASE NO.	81,346
STATE OF FLORIDA,)		
Appellee.)		
)		

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Paul Marr's 1986 testimony that Schofield told him he shot the officer from downstairs and then went back up the stairs to return the rifle to its gun case in the apartment is not consistent with Pittro's testimony, and is certainly inconsistent with the testimony of Reed and Cole that they saw Schofield leaving the scene of the murder carrying the rifle, and also is inconsistent with Jones' own trial testimony that Schofield never returned to the apartment.

In fact, if we are to consider all the affidavits and testimony that have been proffered over the years, we find that nothing is consistent except the bare allegation of Schofield's involvement; everything else changes with the seasons. Even if the trial court was wrong not to consider non-newly-discovered evidence along with the newly-discovered evidence, there are no corroborating circumstances sufficient to show the trustworthiness of Jones' hearsay evidence that Schofield has confessed.

C. THE TRIAL COURT APPLIED THE CORRECT STANDARD TO JONES' CLAIM, AND ITS FACTUAL AND CREDIBILITY FINDINGS ARE PRESUMPTIVELY CORRECT.

When ordering an evidentiary hearing, this Court held that "the trial judge should consider all newly discovered evidence which would be admissible and determine whether such evidence, had it been introduced at the trial, would have probably resulted in an acquittal." 591 So.2d at 916. The trial judge applied that standard (PC-R2 252, 261, 262, 264). Quoting phrases from the order out context, however, Jones argues that the trial court required him to disprove the state's evidence, to "invalidate" Jones' confession, and to "exonerate" himself. Brief of Appellant, pp. 60-61. Jones further contends that the trial court "did not find that the witnesses were not credible" and, in any event, the trial court had no business trying to "weigh the new evidence as though it were a jury, determining what is true and what is false." Brief of Appellant, p. 62-63.

Of course, this Court told the trial court that it would "necessarily have to evaluate the <u>weight</u> of both the newly discovered evidence and the evidence which was introduced at the

trial" in order to determine whether the newly-discovered evidence would probably result in an acquittal. 591 So.2d at 916 (emphasis supplied). That appears to be just what the trial court did.

Jones complains because the trial court addressed "individually" the various incriminating evidence presented at trial, rather than weighing the newly-discovered evidence against "all" the evidence. But "all" the evidence is the sum of its parts. The fact that the trial court pointed out in its order that various highly incriminating aspects of the trial evidence remain untouched by the newly discovered evidence is entirely consistent with the consideration of all the evidence.

The trial evidence includes these salient factors:

- (1) A week before officer Szafranski was murdered, Jones was arrested on several charges, including possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. Jones told his arresting officers that "he was tired of police hassling him, that the police weren't the only ones that had guns and that he was going to shoot a mother-fucking pig."
- (2) Jones and Schofield were roommates. Jones' cousin Hammond was a visitor to the apartment the evening of the murder. According to both Jones and Hammond, Schofield left the apartment an hour before the murder, armed at most with a pistol. He did not return.
- (3) Hammond told police that Jones left the apartment shortly before the murder carrying a rifle. He reconfirmed his original statement when he testified at trial that Jones left the apartment armed with a rifle. He explained that his

contrary pretrial deposition testimony had been motivated by his fear of Jones.

- (4) A number of police cars responded to a domestic dispute one block west of Jones' apartment. After a period of time, they left the scene of that dispute in a small convoy of police cars, headed down 6th Street toward Jones' apartment. As they turned left on Davis Street, someone shot officer Szafranski. Officer Dyal saw flashes from gunshots coming from Jones' apartment building.
- (5) Hammonds testified that Jones immediately returned to the apartment, carrying his rifle.
- (6)Officers responding to the shooting went to the apartment building. One downstairs apartment was empty, but showed signs of being the place where the shots had come from. The occupants of the other downstairs apartment were women and children and one young man, who allowed the police to enter. There were no guns in this apartment. One of the two upstairs apartments was occupied by one elderly man, who allowed the police to enter. There were no guns in this apartment. Meanwhile, people were running back and forth in the other upstairs apartment, but when the police knocked on the door, no When the police used the front porch to cross over and gain entry to Jones' apartment, all the lights were out, and the fully-dressed occupants were pretending to be asleep. When initially confronted, Hammonds told the officers that there were no guns and no other person in the apartment. This statement was false.

- (7) Leo Jones was hiding in his bedroom. Two Marlin 30-30 lever action rifles were under his bed, one of which had Jones' fingerprint on it. During a police pat-down, Jones attempted to dispose of a .380 caliber bullet, and fought with the police when they tried to pick up the bullet. There was also a fully-loaded M-14 semi-automatic rifle in Jones bedroom, and two more guns in the living room.
- (8) Although the murder bullet was fragmented, ballistics examination conclusively established that the murder weapon was a Marlin 30-30 lever action rifle. That examination also eliminated one of the two Marlin 30-30 lever action rifles as the murder weapon, but the other--which had Jones' fingerprint on it--was consistent (albeit not conclusively so) with having been the murder weapon.
- (9) After being taken to the hospital for treatment of minor injuries sustained during his attempt to resist arrest, Jones was taken to breakfast. Jones testified at trial that between the time he was taken to the hospital until he confessed six hours later, no one "laid a hand on him."
- (10) Police officers who observed Jones that morning testified that he was smug and belligerent, cocky and hostile, repeatedly stating that he knew and understood his rights. Eventually, he signed a written confession, admitting that he had taken a rifle from his apartment, walked downstairs to the empty apartment, shot the policeman from the window, returned to his apartment and hid the rifle under the bed. He gave and additional oral statement, explaining that he was tired of "being fucked with" by the police, and decided that he would kill a policeman, and "that's why I did it."

(11) Jones testified at trial that the guns belonged to Schofield and that he confessed because he was "all whipped up." He denied owning any guns, and denied knowing any guns at all were in his apartment, when in fact the place contained a small arsenal, and all the guns were either in the living room or under Jones' own bed, including one having his fingerprint on it. Moreover, although he denied even liking guns he admitted that he had at least one gun in his possession not long before the murder.

Against all this, the only newly-discovered admissible evidence Jones can present is the testimony of Reed and Cole that shortly after the shooting, they saw Schofield running down a street a couple of blocks away, carrying a rifle. Cole has been convicted of five felonies, while Reed is a long-time friend of Jones' family, living in the same neighborhood. Both Reed and Cole waited until the "eleventh hour" to reveal their information, allegedly out of fear of Schofield, even though he was sent to prison not long after the instant murder, and has been there much of the time since. As the trial court recognized, their testimony is of dubious credibility, and a jury could conclude that they "are testifying for no other reason than to help the defendant." (PC-R2 262).

In any event, this testimony would not probably cause an acquittal. Since Schofield was living in the same apartment as Jones, and left that residence without a rifle (according to Hammond and Jones himself), one has to wonder where Schofield could have picked up a rifle. But even if he was in the area carrying a rifle, that evidence does nothing to call into

question the fact that Jones: bragged about having guns; threatened to use one of his guns to kill a police officer; confessed to having carried out that threat; was present in the apartment building from where the shots were fired; was hiding in a bedroom containing numerous high-powered rifles, including the likely murder weapon (which just happened to have Jones' fingerprint on it); acted suspiciously before and after the police entered his apartment; and gave unpersuasive testimony at trial denying not only ownership but all knowledge of any guns in his apartment, and claiming to have been undressed and in bed when the shots were fired, even though he was fully dressed when the police entered the apartment.

Because the mere fact that Schofield may have been in the area armed with a rifle does nothing to call into question Jones' confession and other evidence establishing his guilt, the testimony of Reed and Cole would not probably result in an acquittal of Jones, as the trial court ruled (PC-R2 264-265).

The trial court went further, however, and found that even if the testimony of the inmate witnesses and Patricia Owens were admitted as an exception to the hearsay rule, Jones is still not entitled to a new trial, because these witnesses are not credible and their testimony lacks corroboration.

Jones argues that the trial court "did not find that the witnesses were not credible," but only speculated that a jury might find them not to be. Brief of Appellant , pp. 62-63. This is incorrect. These witnesses, according to the court, "suffer credibility deficiencies." (PC-R2 265, 267). That is merely another way of saying they are not credible. Besides,

the court had earlier in its order found that this evidence was unreliable (PC-R2 245).

The same considerations that support the exclusion of Jones' proffered hearsay evidence also support the trial court's determination that these witnesses would not be persuasive to a jury. Unlike Jones' own confession, which was reported within hours of the crime and is corroborated by considerable circumstantial evidence, as well as by his own previous threat, Schofield's confessions were not reported until the "eleventh hour" by non-credible witnesses, and are not consistent with Jones' own trial testimony, or with other circumstantial evidence in the case. Schofield's confessions are not even consistent with each other.

The court also found that even if one believes that Schofield actually has confessed, "this evidence does not exonerate the defendant in view of the defendant's confession and the circumstantial evidence connecting the defendant to the crime for which he was convicted" (PC-R2 267). Given the many inconsistencies surrounding Schofield's alleged confessions and the theories alleged over the years concerning Schofield's alleged participation in this murder, the trial court's conclusion is surely correct. This "evidence would not have affected the outcome of the trial." Miles v. Nix, 911 F.2d 146, 148 (8th Cir. 1990).

Since this Court ostensibly has adopted the federal rule concerning newly-discovered-evidence-of-innocence claims, <u>Id</u>. at 915, federal court decisions should provide some guidance here. The Second Circuit Court of Appeals has held:

A motion for a new trial on the ground of newly discovered evidence is committed to the discretion of the district judge, whose factual findings are accepted unless clearly erroneous, and whose denial of the motion will be upheld unless there has been an abuse of discretion.

United States v. Underwood, 932 F.2d 1049, 1052 (2d Cir.
1991).

The Eleventh Circuit has held that motions for new trial based upon newly discovered evidence "are greatly disfavored and thus are viewed with much caution." Moody v. United States, 874 F.2d 1575, 1577 (11th Cir. 1989). Such a motion is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court, and the denial of a new trial motion will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.

United States v. Garcia, 13 F.3d 1464, 1472 (11th Cir. 1994);
United States v. Obergon, 893 F.2d 1307, 1312 (11th Cir. 1990);
United States v. Reed, 887 F.2d 1398, 1404 (11th Cir. 1989).

Further:

In ruling on a motion for new trial based upon newly discovered evidence, it is within the province of the trial court to consider the credibility of those individuals who give statements in support of the motion.... Where there is a grave question of the credibility of after-discovered evidence, the role of the trial judge is that of the fact finder, so much so that the Supreme Court in United States v. Johnson, 327 U.S. 106, 66 S.Ct. 4611, 90 L.Ed. 562 (1946), said that an appeal from his resolution of the facts should be dismissed as frivolous. [United States v. Reed, supra at 1404, fn. 12]

The Florida cases are similar. See, e.g., Glendening v. State, 604 So.2d 839, 840 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) ("A motion for new trial is addressed to the sound judicial discretion of the trial court and unless an abuse of discretion is clearly shown, the action of the trial ocurt in this respect will not be disturbed."). In addition, it is well settled under Florida

law that the appellate court should not substitute its judmennt for that of the trial court, but should defer to the trial court's authority as fact finder. E.g., Mason v. State, 597 So.2d 776, 779 (Fla. 1992); Wasko v. State, 505 So.2d 1314, 1316 (Fla. 1987); Tibbs v. State, 397 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981). This should be especially true with respect to a claim of newly discovered evidence of innocence. The trial court's factual findings are well supported by the record, and are certainly not clearly erroneous. This Court directed the trial court to conduct an evidentiary hearing, to determine what alleged newly-discovered evidence would be admissible, to evaluate the weight of both the newly discovered evidence and the original trial evidence, and to determine whether Jones has produced newly-discovered, admissible evidence "of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial." 591 So.2d at 915, 916. The trial court did what this Court asked it to do, and determined that Jones was not entitled to a new trial.

Jones' attempts, however, to raise one additional issue in part C (3) of his brief, in which he complains that "the lower court failed to consider whether the newly discovered evidence would be admissible at a penalty phase or the effect of this evidence on the outcome of a penalty phase." Brief of Appellant at 64. The obvious reason for the trial court's omission to consider the possible effect of this evidence on the penalty phase is that Jones did not present this issue to the trial court. No such issue was presented in his 3.850 motion, or argued on appeal from the original denial of the motion, or addressed by this Court on appeal. Nor did Jones

raise such issue in his pre-hearing memorandum (PC-R2 81 et Nor did he raise such issue in his post-hearing memorandum (PC-R2 191 et seq). The issue presented and addressed by this Court and the trial court was whether Jones could present sufficient newly-discovered, admissible evidence that "it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial." 591 So.2d at 915 (emphasis changed). It is well settled that for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the appellate arguments must be the same as the arguments raised in the lower court. Peterka v. State, 640 So.2d 59 (Fla. 1994); Bertolotti v. State, 565 So.2d 1343 (Fla. 1990); Jackson v. State, 451 So.2d 458 (Fla. 1984); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982). Moreover, claims which could have been raised in a 3.850 motion cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. Doyle v. State, 526 So.2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988). innocent-of-the-death-penalty argument is procedurally barred.

Moreover, even if this argument is not procedurally barred, it is "scarcely logical;" Jones' claim has been "not that some error was made in imposing a capital sentence upon him, but that a fundamental error was made in finding him guilty of the underlying murder in the first place. It would be a rather strange jurisprudence, in these circumstances, which held that under our Constitution he could not be executed, but that he could spend the rest of his life in prison." Herrara v. Collins, supra, 122 L.Ed.2d at 220.

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